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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	BETTY  CAREY, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

VECO, INC. / VALDEZ OIL SPILL,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

EAGLE PACIFIC INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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)
	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  198933971
AWCB Decision No.  09-0148
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on September 9, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard Employee’s claim on June 11, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Employee represented herself.
  Attorney Nina Mitchell represented Employer and Insurer.  We left the record open to receive post-hearing briefing on issues raised at the hearing.  We received Employer’s post-hearing briefing in Anchorage on June 29, 2009, Employee’s on July 2, 2009, and closed the record when we next met on July 14, 2009.


ISSUES

1) Shall we order a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) pursuant to
AS 23.30.095(k)?

2) Shall we order Employee to destroy or relinquish an audiotape recording taken of her visit with an employer’s medical evaluator (EME), to the evaluator, pursuant to our general authority under AS 23.30.110(a)?

3) Shall we change venue in this case from Anchorage to Juneau, Alaska, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.072?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. GENERAL FACTS:

Employee Betty Carey reported injury on or about July 18, 1989
 while working on the Exxon Valdez oil spill cleanup in Prince William Sound.
  She hauled bags of oil-spill “waste” and avers at times various parts of her body were unprotected and exposed to toxic substances.  Among other things, Employee claims: She manually cleaned oil spill equipment and contaminated booms with undiluted cleaning solvents.  At times, she worked in a non-ventilated supply area positioned close to a “decontamination process” and claims she inhaled “fumes,” “vapors,” “contaminated mists,” “contamination” from decomposed organic matter, and breathed “solvents and oil additives.”
  Consequently, Employee claims “systemic” injuries including nervous system damage.  

Specifically, she alleges work-related: Loss of intelligence and continuity of thinking, memory problems, systemic pain throughout her body, cancer, depression, cognitive impairments, weight gain, fear, loss of mobility and motion, loss or damage to reproductive organs, “pre-birth exposure” of her child to toxic materials, hormonal changes and glandular issues, muscular twitching and seizure-like activities, numbness and abnormal sensations, vision problems, tumors, cysts and abnormal lesions, premature infertility, bone problems, reduced lifespan and loss of quality of life, fatigue, tiredness and sleeplessness, sleep disturbances, scarring and disfigurement, psychological injuries, allergies and chemical sensitivities, collagen, vascular and connective tissue damage, blood abnormalities, heart and other major organ damage, medication dependency, and predisposition to other disease and illness.

II. PROCEDURAL FACTS:

In her claims, Employee alternately requests temporary total disability (TTD), temporary partial disability (TPD), and permanent total disability (PTD) from August 1989 to the present and continuing, as well as permanent partial impairment (PPI), medical costs of approximately $40,000 plus ongoing future medical care, medically-related transportation expenses of approximately $10,000 and ongoing future medically-related transportation expenses, a compensation rate adjustment based upon gross weekly earnings of $2,200 per week, a 25% penalty, interest, a finding of unfair or frivolous controversion, attorneys fees, costs, and “other” unspecified benefits.  Employer controverted Employee’s claim, relied upon a January 20, 1993 report from Abba Terr, M.D., and stated the claim was “barred” by AS 23.30.100 and §105.

On May 21, 2009, Employee filed a request with the Board’s Juneau office which stated: “I am requesting an Independent Medical Exam.”

To date there have been four prehearing conferences scheduled in this case and three prehearings held.
  Employee’s claims were clarified and set forth most recently in a May 29, 2009 prehearing conference summary; this is the only prehearing summary pertinent to issues before the Board presently and states in pertinent part:

ADDENDUM

Issues:

EE’s WCC 9/28/06 (This claim was received in our Juneau office on 1/19/07.  See 1/22/07 letter from Susan Oldacres.)



TTD 8/1989 and continuing



TPD 8/1989 and continuing



PTD 8/1989 and continuing



PPI



Medical



Transportation



Compensation Rate



Penalty



Interest



Unfair and frivolous controvert



Attorney fees and costs



Other


EE’s WCC 10/3/06



TTD 8/1989 and continuing



TPD 8/1989 and continuing



PTD 8/1989 and continuing



PPI



Medical



Transportation



Compensation Rate



Penalty



Interest



Unfair and frivolous controvert



Attorney fees and costs



Other

EE’s ARH 10/6/08



WCC – undated

Addendum - EE’s letter dated 5/21/09 requesting a SIME.   (This document was not available to the Board Designee at the time of the 5/29/09 prehearing) 

Defenses:

ER’s Answer 2/9/07



To 9/28/06 claim served on 1/22/07

ER’s Answer 10/24/06



To WCC 10/3/06

ER’s Controversion notice 10/25/06 (Confirmed it was filed with the Board – see Michael Monagle’s letter dated 12/4/06.)

ER’s Affidavit of Opposition to ARH 10/3/06

ER’s Affidavit of Opposition to ARH 10/9/08

Discussions:

The Board Designee asked why the parties wanted a hearing the week before hearing.  

Ms. Carey wrote to the Anchorage WC office on 9/28/08 requesting a hearing be held in Juneau.  Prehearing office Lynda Gillespie wrote back to Ms. Carey on October 22, 2008 and advised her that she must file a Petition to change venue.  Our computer system does not show that Ms. Carey filed a Petition requesting a venue change.  At the 10/28/08 prehearing the parties agreed to a hearing date of 6/11/09.  Ms. Carey stated she asked again recently for the venue to be changed to Juneau closer to her doctors and in case she forgets something she needs for hearing.  This request accompanied a shrink wrapped DVD and other information.  The Board Designee advised Ms. Carey the physicians could testify by phone or written record and she has until 6/10/09 to prepare for hearing.  Ms. Mitchell asked why the information was shrink wrapped.  Ms. Carey stated it was the professional copy store that does that for her.  

Ms. Mitchell is requesting the hearing briefs be extended to 30 pages under
8 AAC 45.114(2).  In light of the fact this is a 20 year old claim and discussion during this prehearing, the Board Designee agrees.  Ms. Mitchell’s request is granted.  Ms. Carey asked that the prehearing be moved to a later date to allow her more time to write 30 pages.  The Board Designee denied Ms. Carey’s request. 

The parties agree there is a blatant medical dispute regarding causation.  Ms. Carey stated she has asked for a SIME in the past but nothing ever came of it.  The Board Designee could not locate Ms. Carey’s request for an SIME or discussion of it in the past prehearing summaries.  The SIME process was discussed at length.   Ms. Carey is very concerned that only a SIME physician, who is not affiliated with the oil industry, be used.  The Board Designee explained there are only two toxicologists on our list.  Ms. Mitchell pointed out the SIME form on our website is outdated and only listed one toxicologist.  After much discussion, both parties said they would rather just go to hearing.  

. . .

At the end of this long prehearing Ms. Carey stated she did want an SIME after all.  The Board Designee told her to ask the Board if they will order one, because this case was going to hearing. 

. . .

Order:

1. Parties will proceed in accordance with this prehearing conference summary.

2. This case will proceed to hearing on 6/11/09.  Parties were directed to serve and file witness lists, legal memoranda and evidence in accordance with
8 AAC 45.060, 8 AAC 45.112, 8 AAC 45.114 and 8 AAC 45.120.  Briefs are to be filed by the close of business on 6/4/09, and must be accompanied by two copies.  Any request for a continuance, postponement, cancellation or change of the hearing date will be reviewed in accordance with 8 AAC 45.074 (emphasis in italics added).
 

At hearing, it became apparent Employee’s claims were not ready for adjudication.  Employee alleged she had requested an SIME in the past “but nothing ever came of it.”
  The parties agreed at the May 29, 2009 prehearing there is “a blatant medical dispute regarding causation” and Employee at prehearing waffled on the need for an SIME but ultimately concluded “she did want an SIME after all.”
  The Board’s Designee at the prehearing advised Employee she could ask the Board to order an SIME at the hearing.  At hearing, Employee reiterated her request for an SIME; Employer objected.  

Employee filed some “shrink wrapped” materials with the Board, which were in our Juneau office, and these were inadvertently misdirected to Fairbanks as the result of a mailroom error and not available for the Board’s review prior to or at hearing.  They were located and sent to our Anchorage office.  

Employee stated she had previously requested a venue change to Juneau so she could be closer to her doctors, review her Board file, and more easily transport herself and her voluminous file to prehearings and hearings.  At hearing, Employer filed and served an extremely large medical summary, to which Employee objected on numerous grounds.
  Lastly, at hearing Employer argued for a Board order requiring Employee to destroy or relinquish an audiotape recording she had made of a visit with an EME physician.

Procedurally, the hearing colloquy on June 11, 2009 shifted from a hearing on the merits of Employee’s claims and Employer’s defenses, to evidence and arguments on various preliminary issues.  The Board kept the record open to receive post-hearing briefing, to provide the parties an opportunity to adequately address these preliminary issues.  Each party submitted post-hearing briefs, the last received in Anchorage on July 2, 2009, and the Board closed the record when we next met on July 14, 2009.

III. FACTS RELATED TO ISSUES BEFORE THE BOARD:

Employee’s claimed injuries, and sequelae from those injuries, are numerous.  Mindful the Board’s authority is limited to reviewing claims for particular benefits, and reviewing facts relevant to procedural issues relating to claims for specific benefits, we limit our discussion only to facts related to the current issues subject of the June 11, 2009 hearing and requested post-hearing briefing.

A. THE SIME:

1) Employee’s medical evidence:

On January 26, 2009, James Dahlgren, M.D., saw Employee in “follow up” and stated his “opinions remain the same” as set forth in his initial report.  He opined Employee’s leg pain was consistent with the slow healing process of “peripheral neuropathy.”
  Dr. Dahlgren, Assistant Clinical Professor of Medicine at UCLA, on January 14, 2008, provided his initial report for an examination done on Employee on August 8, 2007.  According to his report, Dr. Dahlgren did an extensive evaluation and caused to have done considerable laboratory testing.  He took a history from Employee and reviewed various medical records.
  Dr. Dahlgren opined Employee suffered the following exposures:

1.  Crude oil, dispersant, bioremediation chemicals, and glycol ether exposure.

2. Also exposure to PAH’s,
 organic solvents, including benzene.

Dr. Dahlgren’s diagnoses included:

1. Toxic encephalopathy.

2. Kidney damage with hematuria and proteinuria.

3. Autoimmune disease with discoid lupus.

4. Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberance.

5. Angiohistocytoma.

6. Uterine fibroids.

7. Supraspinatus tendon tear.

8. Thyroid cyst.

Dr. Dahlgren stated, in discussing Employee’s maladies:

Betty Carey was in her usual state of health with no particular health problems until she was exposed to benzene, toluene, ethyl-benzene, xylene, 2-butoxy ethanol, PAH’s, bioremediation chemicals and other materials outlined above.  Inipol EAP22 was used extensively.  This contains 2-butoxy ethanol, a potent neurotoxin.

The patient was also exposed to other organic solvents and a whole variety of other materials arising from the oilfield waste and attempts to remediate.

This patient is permanently and totally disabled.  She needs an evaluation by a neuropsychologist to evaluate brain function to see if there is any possibility of rehabilitation.  She cannot return to her usual employment as a professional poker player because she cannot remember her hold card, and certainly could not play professional level poker.

She is so weak, tired and filled with multiple symptoms including chronic pain that it is unlikely that she will ever work again.

The patient will require extensive and detailed medical care in the future.  The entire cause of her illness was the weeks of uncontrolled and very dangerous exposures that she sustained while working for the VECO.

She is permanent and stationary for rating purposes.  She has been essentially temporarily totally disabled and then totally disabled since July of 1989.  She has had a child who needs to be evaluated for birth defects.

The medical opinions expressed in this report are based on the information that was available to me at the time of preparation.  I reserve the right to modify my opinion as additional information becomes available.

In his report dated September 21, 2006, John Bursell, M.D., gave the following assessment after Ms. Carey complained of left shoulder pain:

ASSESSMENT: Given her concerns I think that Betty should see her primary care physician and Dr. Weiden regarding this issue. She has a letter that she is sending down to Dr. Berg as well, and is planning on going down to see him.

710.5 Toxic oil syndrome

PLAN: Will follow-up on an as needed basis.

Toxic oil syndrome (emphasis in original).

Richard Nelson, M.D., Diplomat, American Board of Neurology and Psychiatry stated in a letter dated February 15, 2001:

I read your letter regarding the Exxon Valdez oil spill cleanup and exposure to crude oils and health problems that may be caused by it and the implications of what happened to wild life including the fish, (sic) is I think very close to the point and I believe that very close monitoring of the immune system, the nervous system and endocrine system should be done in all cases with this and that to my mind would mean that the patient ought to have a PET scan on a yearly basis for the brain, have a complete immune system scanning done to see what the functions are and I always do those down at the antibody assay laboratory in Santa Anna, (sic) California and any local physician and/or endocrinologist, neurologist, etc., can do an endocrine check on you with estrogen, progesterone, thyroid, Cortisone, growth hormone, etc., levels to see if the endocrine system is operating in a normal fashion and that would include the production of adrenaline from the adrenal gland.

In his February 5, 2001 letter, Daniel Teitelbaum, M.D., through his assistant stated:

Thank you for your facsimile dated December 30, 2000.  Dr. Teitelbaum asked me to write you when he returned to the office in early January. . . .

Dr. Teitelbaum asked me to tell you that it is well known that PAH components of crude oil, in the presence of sunlight cause more skin damage than sunlight alone.  This fact was used for the treatment of psoriasis for years, where a paste of crude oil called liquor carbonis detergens with a high PAH content was put on the skin, and then UV light exposure was given to control the psoriasis.  It will cause mor (sic) skin damage than sunlight alone.  He suggested that you see a dermatologist and be evaluated for actinic keratoses, the chronic manifestations of severe sunburn which are precancerous lesions. . . .
 

In his December 29, 2000 report, Dr. Nelson stated:

I did receive your letter of 12-22-00 and have read it with much interest and unfortunately most of your conclusions are undoubtedly correct, that the systemic effects of the toxic substances in the crude oil and waste bags have pulled together to cause not only connective tissue muscle skin disorders but central nervous system and endocrine immune system disorders as well.  It is not uncommon that we see this and I wonder if you are in the mood to think about doing a PET scan of your brain because the PET scans of the brain frequently will show alterations in metabolism of those cells long after the events have occurred and particularly in the case of toxic encephalopathy and you might want to look into that and if you would like to have a PET scan done, I can certainly make arrangements for it, probably down here in the lower states (sic)  I send people over to Nebraska or down to the University of California-Irvine.  You could take a look and see if there is anything up there closer in Alaska as far as PET scanners are concerned.  The PET scan means positron emission tomography.

2) Employer’s medical evidence:

By contrast, Employer had Employee seen by Brent Burton, M.D., Emil Bardana, M.D., and Donna Wicher, PhD, for a panel EME on February 5-7, 2008.  According to their report, Drs. Burton and Bardana reviewed extensive medical records, took a history, examined Employee, had some laboratory studies performed, and filed a comprehensive report.
  Their combined assessment included:

1. Documented upper respiratory infection in mid-July of 1989 with possible sinusitis treated with Doxycycline which the patient refused to take.

2. Historical account of ‘exposure’ to crude oil and a variety of dispersants and solvents between July 18, 1989 and August 1, 1989 for periods of time and at concentrations which are basically unknown.  Ms. Carey wore rubber gloves, rubber boots, goggles and a hard hat during her employ.  There is no scientific evidence that Ms. Carey was adversely impacted with respect to her health as a result of these alleged ‘exposures.’
3. Probable ‘functional somatic syndrome’ manifested by chronic pain with excessive ideation focused on her 1989 exposures and their ‘repercussions.’  There is also excessive ideation about the recurrence of her sarcomatous tumor and the possibility of multiple sclerosis.

4. Opiate dependence with chronic use of such medications as Oxycontin, Methadone, Percodan, Percocet, Tylenol 4, Duragesic and Hydrocodone since 1998.
5. Established history of depression for several decades treated with Prozac, Paxil, Zoloft, Serzone, Nortriptyline, Effexor, among others.

6. Nonspecific sleep disorder (possible obstructive sleep apnea) treated with a variety of hypnotics and Ritalin-SR associated with hypersomnolence, but never fully evaluated.  This may be related to fibromyalgia (see diagnoses #7).

7. History of possible fibromyalgia with excessive pain and fatigue treated with Skelaxin and other analgesics) (sic) see diagnoses #4).  This diagnosis was never convincingly established.

8. History of meningitis at age 12 requiring hospitalization for approximately one week.  Ms. Carey denies this is true despite repeated references to it in her medical records.

9. Idiopathic environmental intolerance with cacosmia to a variety of agents including subtle fragrances, exhaust, smog, paint fumes, etc. since approximately 1994.

10. Status-post Mohs surgery for a dermatofibrosarcoma protuberance on the superior aspect of the left shoulder in March of 1997 without evidence of any recurrence.

11. Bleeding hemorrhoids; status-post colonoscopy which also showed redundant colon in 2001.

12. Brief episode of hematuria of unknown etiology.

13. Degenerative spine disease with mild bulging at L4-L5 with canal stenosis and also multiple degenerative changes of the cervical spine with mild central canal stenosis.

14. Rotator cuff strain of the left shoulder with resultant frozen shoulder syndrome.  Most recent assessment has been adhesive capsulitis.

15. Exogenous obesity.
16. Chronic hyperchlolesterolemia which has remained untreated.

17. Small benign right thyroid nodule.
18. Herpes zoster in the L3-L4 distribution in 2002.

19. Status-post umbilical hernia repair in 1966.

20. Status-post glandular removal from the right breast in 1967.

21. Status-post Cesarean section at Humana Hospital in Anchorage in 1990.

22. Removal of lentigo simplex lesion and an angiohistiocytoma from the right medial calf in 1997.

23. Status-post removal of a capillary hemangioma from the left anterior thigh in 1997.
24. Status-post hysterectomy for a leiomyoma in 1998.

25. Status-post repair of an anal fissure in 2000.

26. Status-post biopsy of the left lateral thigh in 2001.

27. Status-post removal of a right hand lesion in 2002.

28. Status-post removal of nodules from the left lateral thigh in 2002.

29. Status-post biopsy of the left shoulder scar in 2007 which was benign (emphasis in original).

These two EME physicians’ analyses included:

Ms. Betty Carey is a 51-year-old Caucasian female who has no genetic predilection to atopic disease.  Family medical history is negative for allergic disease and she herself did not develop typical symptoms of allergic disease in childhood, i.e., allergic rhinitis (hay fever), or bronchial asthma.  Her total serum IgE is 10 lu/ml.  She was said to be in relatively good health until she worked for a period of 10 or 11 days as an oil recovery technician at the Exxon Valdez oil spill in Prince William Sound.  While employed in this job description, she presented to the medical personnel with the onset of a mild upper respiratory infection on July 27, 1989 and was felt to have a mild sinusitis and treated symptomatically.  She was seen again several days later and felt to have a more substantial infection and was treated with Doxycycline which she refused to take.  On August 1 she insisted on being evacuated to Anchorage for further evaluation and there are no medical records which record any further evaluation or treatment for the next 3.5 months.

On December 31, 1990 she telephonically consulted with Dr. Robert Rowen, an environmental medicine and alternative medicine specialist, and given a history of having had no symptoms for a period of three or four months following her work as an oil recovery technician until in mid-December of 1989 she suffered a left hip strain and was seen in the Fairbanks Memorial Hospital ER and treated symptomatically and eventually with physical therapy and a TENS unit.  From this point on she begins to have problems with low back pain and pain in the left leg which intensified over the time that she was pregnant and early 1990 giving birth to her son by Cesarean section which was done on an emergent basis because of poor ‘fetal heart tones.’  She subsequently was seen by a variety of providers with symptoms of environmental intolerance, depression, anxiety, concerns about bodily function and was described as an over-interpretation of her somatic symptoms.  Dr. Rowen treated her with intravenous supplements of vitamins, Doxychore and glutathione.  She also received chelation therapy for heavy metal poisoning.  She was given a variety of drugs including Tegretol, Aventyl, and Prozac for what was diagnosed as meralgia paresthetica of unknown etiology.

In May of 1991 she was seen by additional providers including an allergist/immunologist Dr. Gordon Baker, and a neurologist, Dr. Richard Nelson who subscribe to her theory that she had suffered some type of toxic reaction to the exposures as an oil recovery technician and a diagnosis of toxic encephalopathy and chemical sensitivity to a variety of nonspecific agents.  In addition to her ‘chronic pain syndrome,’ she was complaining of poly-arthropathy, chronic fatigue, and cacosmia.  She was treated with Prozac, Paxil, Zoloft, Serzone, and a variety of other drugs for what was felt to be depression associated with ‘functional somatic syndrome.’  There is no scientific evidence that she suffered any unusual health effects as a result of her exposure to crude oil on the beaches or to various chemicals that were used as dispersants, solvents, etc.  The diagnosis of ‘toxic oil syndrome’ is a misnomer and has no application with respect to Ms. Carey’s symptomatology.  She underwent a variety of imaging studies, psychological studies, and laboratory evaluations which by and large were either negative or revealed some nonspecific findings that at the time were interpreted as relating to her exposures during this 10-day period of time that she worked for VECO.

She underwent PET scanning which showed some nonspecific findings that at the time were ascribed to the fact that she had a history of being ‘knocked off a horse in 1970 losing consciousness briefly’ (told to Dr. Paul Craig on March 19, 1991) as well as the fact that she had been hospitalized for a diagnosis of meningitis in Cody, WY at the age of 12.  Although Ms. Carey adamantly denies that she ever had meningitis at this time, she told this to Dr. Haberland in Powell on January 15, 1991 and repeated this on April 3, 1991 to Dr. Craig telling him that she suffered with meningitis at age 10 or 11 and was hospitalized.  This was again repeated on May 15, 1991 when she told Dr. Richard Nelson that she had meningitis, treated in the hospital for 7 to 10 days and was discharged without apparent symptomatology.  It was again repeated on June 10, 1999 when she completed a questionnaire in her own hand indicating that she had had meningitis.  In addition, she also told providers on October 16, 1998 that she was involved in a motor vehicle accident in 1985 and suffered a cervical whiplash injury.  The latter is not mentioned in any other section of her medical records.  However, the combination of these injuries might account for the problems that she had including headache, back pain, and neuropathic pain.

Following the diagnosis of dermatofibrosarcoma protuberance in March of 1997 when it is removed by Mohs surgery, she became obsessed with the fact that this was related to her exposures in 1989 and subsequently became focused on the possibility of recurrent sarcoma in that area.  She was constantly addressing various providers about doing imaging studies of the left shoulder and biopsying the left shoulder to rule out recurrent tumor.  She also had a variety of lesions biopsied and removed from various parts of the body thinking that she may have some type of recurrent sarcomatous tumor.  However, there is no convincing scientific evidence that any of these things were related to her brief exposures to crude oil and to various chemicals used in the clean-up process.  Her chronic pain syndrome has continued and has required significant amounts of opiate medications to control and has undoubtedly resulted in an opiate dependence.  Throughout this process she has also had problems with depression and has suffered from a nonspecific sleep disorder which may indeed represent obstructive sleep apnea.  The latter has never been fully evaluated.  She also carries a history of possible fibromyalgia which could account for much of her pain syndrome.

In summary, Ms. Carey is a 51-year-old female who has a long history of multiple somatic complaints and an associated deep belief (some of which was fueled by what she was told by some of her providers) that these ailments related to ‘exposures’ while employed as an oil recovery technician between July 18, 1989 and August 1, 1989.  Our exposure assessment provides a reasonable rationale explaining why it is highly unlikely that her work exposures had any adverse impact on her health.  Most importantly, there is no evidence that she was symptomatic or required any medical care for at least four months after leaving the oil clean-up site.  The major development that led to medical treatment was a ‘left hip strain’ in December 1989.  She subsequently had problems with low back and left leg pain throughout her pregnancy.  She claims to have had a difficult pregnancy which required hospitalization for a protracted period.  No medical records are available related to the pregnancy or the Cesarean section.  Her complaints of work-related symptoms do not begin until 18 months after she left the work site.  Though she underwent multiple evaluations and procedures, there are no data which link any of her symptoms to her alleged exposures.  Her subsequent medical history is explained by a persistent ‘functional somatic syndrome’ highlighted by chronic pain, depression, a sleep disorder and subsequent dependence on opiates for relief.  There is no evidence linking her work exposures with the dermatofibrosarcoma protuberance removed from the left shoulder.

According to her report, Dr. Wicher performed a neuropsychological EME on Employee on February 5 and February 7, 2008.  She took a history, reviewed medical records, performed a “mental status evaluation” and provided a comprehensive report.
  Dr. Wicher’s diagnoses included:

The following are the DSM-IV diagnoses for Ms. Carey:

AXIS I:
300.82 Somatization Disorder Not Otherwise Specified.



304.00 Opioid Dependence.

AXIS II:
Dissociative personality features.

AXIS III:
Status/post malignant tumor resection, chronic pain.

AXIS IV:
Single parenthood, ongoing litigation.

AXIS V:
GAF = 55-60.

In her analysis, Dr. Wicher stated:

Betty Carey is a 51-year-old woman who reports a constellation of symptoms, both physical and psychological, which she attributes to work she performed cleaning up an oil spill from The Exxon Valdez in July 1989.  Although she attributes all of her current difficulties to her work exposures in July 1989, the results of the current evaluation failed to reveal objective evidence of a diagnosable mental or nervous disorder related to her work exposure and, instead, indicate that her current clinical presentation is most strongly related to psychological factors unrelated to her work exposure.

Ms. Carey does not show clear, objective evidence of a Cognitive Disorder.  The exposure she describes has not clearly been identified as a potential source of cognitive impairment and, although some providers have opined that there is a connection between her work activities and her current complaints, this connection is not one which is widely accepted in the medical community.  Consequently, there is no clear and objective basis for a cognitive disorder.  Further, some of her test results are inconsistent with organic brain impairment. . . .    

. . .

In addition, tests of motivation suggest inconsistent effort and an attempt by Ms. Carey to present herself as more impaired than is actually the case.  While her medication regimen, methadone specifically, could certainly affect her cognitive functioning in an adverse way, it is likely that psychological factors such as her perception of herself as impaired, and motivational factors as well, are playing a more important role in her current symptom picture.

Ms. Carey shows evidence of the presence of a Somatization Disorder, a psychological condition in which the individual reports subjective complaints of physical or cognitive difficulties which cannot be fully accounted for by objective medical findings.  Evidence for the presence of this disorder is seen both in the extensive medical records and the results of the current evaluation. . . . 

. . .

Individuals develop Somatization Disorders on the basis of their underlying personality structure.  It is uncommon for individuals without dissociative personality features, as well as a history of hardship or loss during their developmental years, to develop somatoform disorders.  Typically, individuals who develop these disorders have experienced hardship or loss during their developmental years, as was the case with Ms. Carey’s loss of her father at an early age.  Because of this history of early deprivation, individuals with these types of experiences are most commonly left with unmet dependency needs.  They often attempt to cope with underlying vulnerability by developing a self-image of being strong and independent.  During their adult years, their defenses may break down when confronted with an illness or injury, and they experience conflict regarding dependency.  On the one hand, their dependency needs pull them in the direction of depending on others, while their independent self-image pulls them in the other direction, that of remaining independent.  By focusing excessively on somatic concerns, they may be able to resolve some of this internal conflict and feel more justified in adopting a dependent stance.  Because psychological factors play a significant role in their clinical presentation, they typically report subjective complaints which cannot be fully explained by objective findings.  Because Ms. Carey’s Somatization Disorder would be due primarily to her underlying personality structure and developmental history, it would not be considered caused, in major part, by her work exposure of July 1989.  Instead, the alleged exposure simply provided her a context in which to express conflicts which have been present throughout her life.

Ms. Carey’s current symptoms are due to psychological factors unrelated to her July 1989 work exposure.  As noted above, her personality structure plays a significant role in her current symptom picture.  She is a woman who appears to have a high degree of worry, anxiety, and vulnerability.  The records suggest that she may suffer from Paranoid Schizophrenia, and some of her beliefs about the alleged sequelae of her work at the oil spill cleanup may be delusional in nature.  Her obsessive worry most likely also plays a role in her current somatic preoccupation.  In addition, Ms. Carey’s current clinical presentation is undoubtedly influenced by secondary gain, which is almost unavoidable in compensation situations.  Her current circumstances provide her with secondary gain in the forms of relief from work pressures, attention from health care providers and others, potential financial compensation, and the meeting of underlying dependency needs.  She is a woman who has had some unfortunate experiences during her life; her father died when she was young, and she appears to be estranged from both her stepfather and her brother.  She is a single parent who has had to rear her son essentially on her own, and her son reportedly has some problems of his own.  Consequently, her life has been somewhat difficult, and it would most likely be a welcome relief to have the support and attention of her healthcare providers and others.  While Ms. Carey meets the DSM-IV diagnostic criteria for malingering, her clinical presentation may very well be due entirely to unconscious psychological factors.

B. DESTRUCTION OR RELINQUISHMENT OF THE EME TAPE:

The relevant facts on this issue are hotly contested.  Employee admits she tape-recorded some of Dr. Wicher’s EME visit.  Employee testified and argues in her briefing she did not surreptitiously tape any part of any EME evaluation, but rather kept her tape recorder in plain sight at all times.  She avers she learned tape-recording was acceptable by virtue of Employer’s counsel tape-recording her at her deposition, in addition to the official record made by the court reporter.  Because Employee was a party to the conversations she taped, in her view she did not do anything “illegal.”  Employee maintains the tape and tape-recorder belong to her.

By contrast, Employer relies upon Dr. Wicher’s report in which she suggests Employee surreptitiously tape-recorded her visit with Dr. Wicher and tape-recorded portions of a copyrighted Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) evaluation.  

C. CHANGE OF VENUE:

Ms. Carey lists her address as P.O. Box 34112, Juneau, AK, 98003, and testified she physically resides in Juneau, Alaska.  VECO is represented by attorney Nina Mitchell, whose primary office is located in Seattle, Washington.  The Board takes administrative notice Employer VECO no longer exists as an entity, having been acquired by another firm.  However, when VECO was in business, its primary business location was Anchorage, Alaska, according to our worker’s compensation computer system.  Its insurance adjuster, Seabright, lists its address in our system as Anchorage, Alaska.

IV. THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS ON THE PRELIMINARY ISSUES:

A. THE SIME:

1) Employee’s arguments:

Employee offers twenty-four separate arguments in support of her request for an SIME.  Relevant arguments include: Employee believes many of her medical records from the past have been “altered” and contain “misinformation”; some medical records submitted to the board are someone else’s medical records, according to Employee; Employer’s medical evaluations are biased and not reliable because the doctors were hired by the insurance company and Employer; an SIME would afford the Board’s doctors a fresh review of properly authenticated and accurate medical records; a new, unbiased second independent medical evaluator would assist the Board because Employee has “new” medical evidence which should be considered.

2) Employer’s arguments:

By contrast, Employer argues an SIME “would not be helpful to the board.”  Employer notes
Dr. Dahlgren opined Employee suffers from a “brain injury” as a result of her exposure to oil and cleaning products.  It notes its EME physicians Dr. Burton and Dr. Bardana conclude Employee does not suffer from a brain injury and none of the conditions she complains of were caused by her work on the oil spill cleanup.  They suggest alternative explanations including drug use, a sleep disorder, obesity, depression and a Somatization Disorder as the causes of her ongoing complaints.  Furthermore, Employer notes EME Dr. Wicher concluded Employee suffers from opiate addiction, depression and a Somatization Disorder.  Employer argues Employee’s physicians’ opinions are not shared by the medical community in general.  Consequently, Employer suggests the medical evidence supporting Employer’s position is “clear and weighty.”
  It cites as legal support for its opposition to the SIME Geister v. Kid’s Corps, Inc.,
 and Bah v. Trident Seafoods.
  Employer concludes since its medical evidence clearly shows Employee does not have toxic encephalopathy, i.e., a “brain injury,” an SIME would not be helpful to the Board and Employer should not be burdened with the added expense.

B. DESTRUCTION OR RELINQUISHMENT OF THE EME TAPE:

1) Employee’s arguments:

Employee argues Employer’s physicians are “known to write misleading reports in favor of” employers.  Consequently, she argues she brought tapes and a tape recorder to the EME visits for “quality assurance and accurate note-taking.”   She avers the tape and recorder belong to her and no one else.  Employee says she had her recorder in plain sight when talking to Dr. Wicher’s secretary upon arrival at her office.  When Dr. Wicher arrived, Employee maintains she was working on the MMPI test and held the recorder to her mouth in plain sight, stating into the recorder Dr. Wicher had arrived forty-five minutes late.  In short, Employee argues she did not surreptitiously record any EME visit, and alleges she thought it was acceptable to tape-record “the opposition” since she alleges VECO’s counsel did so independently at Employee’s deposition.

Furthermore, Employee states she did nothing illegal, was a party to the taped conversations, and did not tape portions of exams when she was told to turn off the recorder.  Employee believes her tape could be used to impeach Dr. Wicher and may be important evidence.  Employee further believes taped comments made by Dr. Wicher’s staff show a lack of professionalism and open hostility toward her.  Employee suggests the tape also contains “privileged” information belonging to her, which she does not wish to disclose to Dr. Wicher.  She argues Dr. Wicher and Employer are merely assuming the tape contains “certain test information.”  Lastly, Employee argues Dr. Wicher is married to one of the other EME doctors and suggests the tape might be needed for “evidence of motive for a crime that Claimant is not able to discuss at this time.”

2) Employer’s arguments:

By contrast, Employer argues Employee surreptitiously recorded a portion of the clinical interview, including a discussion of some items on the MMPI test.  It says “the employer’s requests for return of the tape” were made through Employee’s former attorney, presumably Robert H. Madden.  According to Employer, Employee and her former attorney declined to “return” the tape but agreed the former attorney would hold the single copy “in trust.”  Employer argues Employee’s former attorney has since withdrawn and advised Employer’s attorney he would return the tape to Employee on June 26, 2009.

As support for its request the Board order Employee to destroy the tape or relinquish it to Dr. Wicher, Employer cites AS 23.30.095, arguing this section requires Employee to provide “reasonable cooperation” with an EME.  It further cites Struzynski v. Manpower International, Inc.
 as decisional support.  Employer argues Employee continued to record the MMPI exam after being told to turn off the tape recorder.  Employer suggests the test, which is copyrighted, may be compromised if test questions are made public.  In short, Employer argues Employee’s taping and refusal to destroy or relinquish the tape constitutes an “obstruction of the IME process.”  Employer seeks a Board order requiring Employee to destroy or relinquish the tape and provide “sworn affirmation” she has destroyed or relinquished all copies.  Alternately, Employer asks the Board to order pursuant to AS 23.30.095(e) Employee has “forfeited her entitlement to bring an action for recovery of damages under the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Act.”

C. CHANGE OF VENUE:

1) Employee’s arguments:

Employee offered numerous reasons for a venue change at hearing, and listed eighteen reasons in her post-hearing brief why she favors changing venue to Juneau.  Relevant reasons include: Proximity to her local doctors should they need to testify; excessive costs to fly to and from Anchorage and accommodation costs for prehearings and hearings; difficulty communicating by telephone with prehearing officers in Anchorage; not being present to see items placed in the Board’s file at prehearings by Employer’s representatives; documents filed in Juneau not being properly placed in Employee’s case file in the Anchorage Board office; misdirection of Employee’s filings to Fairbanks rather than Anchorage when she files them in Juneau; difficulty faxing documents to the Board’s Anchorage offices for filing; health concerns because Employee has to carry heavy files to and from Anchorage and on and off airplanes; difficulties with “pilfered” luggage at airports; Employee’s fears she may be a target for “foul play” by Defendants, and Employee’s general fear of traveling in respect to her claims against Exxon and VECO, all of which she feels would be alleviated to some extent if she could remain in Juneau for hearings.
 

Employee also requested the same two Board panel members, Hearing Officer Soule and Member Peacock, in the event venue was changed to Juneau.

2) Employer’s arguments:

In response to Employee’s request for change of venue, Employer offers one sentence in its post-hearing brief, which states:  “Carey has requested a change of venue for her convenience and the convenience of her witnesses under 8 AAC 45.072, and the employer enters no objection, and stipulates to the change of venue to Juneau.”


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. SHALL THE BOARD ORDER AN SIME?

AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in pertinent part:

In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the Employee’s attending physician and the employer’s independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board. . . .

AS 23.30.110(g) states in pertinent part:

An injured Employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician which the board may require.  The place or places shall be reasonably convenient for the Employee. . . . Proceedings shall be suspended and no compensation may be payable for a period during which the Employee refuses to submit to examination.

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:

The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case . . . where right to compensation is controverted . . . make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

Our regulation at 8 AAC 45.092(g) provides in relevant part:

If there exists a medical dispute under in AS 23.30.095(k), . . . (3) the board will, in its discretion, order an evaluation under AS 23.30.095(k) even if no party timely requested an evaluation under (2) of this subsection if 

. . .

(B) the board on its own motion determines an evaluation is necessary.

When deciding whether to order an SIME, the Board in its discretion typically considers the following general criteria, though the statute does not expressly require it:

1.  Is there a medical dispute between Employee’s physician and Employer’s independent medical evaluator?

2.  Is the dispute significant?

3. Will an SIME physician’s opinion assist the Board in resolving the disputes?

We have consistently found, and we again find, §095(k) is procedural and not substantive for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage.
  We find we have wide discretion pursuant to §095(k) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order an SIME to assist us in investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims pursuant to §135(a).  In most cases, to justify ordering an SIME under §095(k) the medical dispute must be “significant.”  Lau v. Caterair International,
 Toskey v. Trailer Craft,
 Brosnan v. Peak Oilfield Service.
  
The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (AWCAC) in Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp.,
 addressed our authority to order a medical evaluation pursuant to §095(k) and §110(g).  With regard to §095(k), the AWCAC referred to its decision in Smith v. Anchorage School District, in which it said:

[t]he statute clearly conditions the Employee’s right to an SIME . . . upon the existence of a medical dispute between the physicians for the employee and the employer.

The AWCAC further noted in dicta that before ordering an SIME, we have historically found the medical dispute is “significant or relevant” to a pending claim or petition, and the SIME would assist us in resolving the dispute.
  Under either §095(k) or §110(g), the AWCAC noted in dicta the purpose of ordering an SIME is to assist the Board; it is not intended to give Employee an additional medical opinion at Employer’s expense when Employee disagrees with her own physician’s opinion.
  We find §095(k) gives us broad discretion to order an SIME when we find a relevant medical dispute.  We find in this case Employee is requesting the SIME.

A. ARE THERE MEDICAL DISPUTES?

First, we find there are medical disputes between Employee’s physicians and Employer’s physicians.  Furthermore, we find the parties agreed at the May 29, 2009 prehearing “there is a blatant medical dispute regarding causation.”  We agree.  

On Employee’s side, as set forth in great detail, supra, Drs. Dahlgren, Nelson, Bursell, and Teitelbaum all opine Employee has an injury arising out of and in the course of her employment with VECO on the Exxon Valdez oil spill cleanup.  One or more of her doctors also say Employee is permanently disabled and needs various diagnostics and treatments.  By contrast, on Employer’s side, Drs. Burton, Bardana and Wicher all agree and opine whatever ails Employee did not arise out of or in the course of her employment, and they offer alternative explanations for all of her symptoms.  None of the EME reports suggest Employee was or is disabled by virtue of her VECO exposure or needs any medical care or treatment for any work-related condition.

Consequently, we conclude evidence in the record shows clear medical disputes between the attending physicians and the EME physicians. 

B. ARE THE DISPUTES SIGNIFICANT OR RELEVANT?

Second, we find the medical disputes in this case are both “significant” and “relevant.”  We find if we accept Drs. Dahlgren, Nelson, Bursell and Teitelbaum’s medical opinions on the case’s merits, Employee may be entitled to worker’s compensation benefits under the Act.  By contrast, if we accept Drs. Burton, Bardana and Wicher’s medical opinions, Employee may not be entitled to worker’s compensation benefits.  In short, we find whether or not Employee is entitled to any benefits turns on whether her past and current need for medical care, treatment and any disability or permanent impairment since 1989 “arose out of and in the course of the employment,” and if her VECO employment on the oil spill cleanup is “a substantial factor” in her need for medical care or treatment, and any disability or permanent impairment.  We find the medical disputes created by differences in Employee’s physicians’ opinions versus Employer’s physicians’ opinions focus on this salient, causation issue.  We find this creates a substantial, relevant, medical dispute.  

We also find, based upon the above, disputes over functional capacity and the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment.  Employee claims she was either temporarily or permanently disabled since 1989 as a result of her VECO exposure and claims over $50,000 in past medical care and transportation expenses, as well as future medical care.  Consequently, we conclude the medical disputes in this case are both relevant and significant.

C. WILL AN SIME ASSIST THE BOARD IN RESOLVING THIS CLAIM ON ITS MERITS?

Third, we find this is an extraordinarily medically complex case in which Employee claims physical and psychological injury to many and varied body parts and functions.  We find Employer raised defenses under at least AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.105,
 and Employee’s claims raise potential equitable-tolling-of-limitations issues under those statutes based on Employee’s mental status and competency.  We find the medical opinions on both sides of this case diametrically opposed, and probably could not be any more opposed.  We find an SIME will assist us in resolving preliminary defenses under AS 23.30.100 and §105 as well as Employee’s claim on its merits because the Workers’ Compensation Officer and the parties can ask appropriate questions to help focus on the important medical facts bearing upon Employee’s claim and Employer’s defenses.  We find an SIME will allow Employee and Employer to provide a relevant history of Employee’s medical situation and work place experience through both Employee’s verbal report to the SIME physician or physicians, and her voluminous medical records, which will further clarify the history.  We find Employee’s medical history both pre- and post-exposure will be particularly important for the SIME physician or physicians to review.  We find the SIME process will allow the parties to affirm the medical records sent to the SIME are authentic, relevant, and pertain only to Employee.
  We find an SIME will likely provide expert, non-biased clarification of these issues, and be of great benefit to the Board when it decides this case on its merits.  We therefore conclude we will order an SIME.  

We distinguish this case from Bah and cases cited therein.  In Bah the employer did not conduct an EME and the employee was “dissatisfied” with her physicians’ medical opinions.  Here, by contrast, Employee and Employer note the “blatant” medical disputes between Employee’s physicians and Employer’s physicians.  Such disputes create appropriate grounds for an SIME pursuant to §095(k).  In Bah the commission stated:

Here, the employer did not conduct an independent medical evaluation.  Instead, the employer relied on the reports of the employee’s physicians.  The opinions of the employee’s physicians are not opposed by an employer medical evaluation.  In the absence of opposing medical opinions between employer and employee physicians, there cannot be a medical dispute.  Therefore, the board properly found that there was no qualifying medical dispute (emphasis added).
In the instant case, we find there are three EME physicians and all three disagree with Employee’s physicians’ opinions.  We conclude Bah is clearly distinguishable from this case.  

Employer relies on Geister, which we find inapposite to Employer’s objection to the SIME request.  The commission in Geister stated:

The board will not find an SIME useful in every case.  SIME reports are particularly useful when the conflict in medical opinion turns on a medical or scientific question.  For example, when differences in the method of scientific analysis used by the employee physician and the employer medical examiner result in different opinions, the SIME may be able to assist the board by explaining the underlying assumptions of each method, how they should be applied, and why one or the other method should be used in the case at hand. SIME reports are also generally useful in cases involving unusual mechanisms of injury or occupational disease when causation is in dispute (emphasis added).

In the instant case, we find the Board is dealing with a toxic exposure claim, somewhat akin to an “occupational disease,” and with divergent opinions as to which method for determining causation is scientifically sound and which is not.  Pursuant to Geister, we conclude Employee’s case is precisely the situation in which an SIME will be useful in resolving these differing opinions.  Employer and its EME doctors argue Employee’s physicians’ opinions are not generally accepted by the medical community.  Employee’s physicians appear credentialed and have methodologies and opinions diametrically opposed to Employer’s positions.  We find an impartial opinion from an SIME will greatly assist the Board in resolving these extremely complicated medical issues.  

Employer lastly suggests its EME reports are so thorough, well reasoned and scientifically supported that no further medical evidence need be developed -- thus obviating the need for an SIME.  In response to a similar notion the commission in Geister said:

It is enough that the parties present evidence of a medical dispute to request an SIME.  The board is not asked to decide which physician’s opinion is more persuasive when deciding if there is a qualifying conflict in opinions -- it will only do that when deciding the merits of the claim.  The parties are not offering competing opinions to persuade the board of the truth of their substance; the opinions are offered solely to establish that a difference of medical or scientific expert opinion exists (emphasis added).

We exercise our discretion and grant Employee’s request, and order an SIME performed by a panel.  An SIME must be performed by physicians on our list, unless we find the physicians on our list are not impartial.
  

We find there are at least two primary categories of medical questions in this case: Causation of the systemic physical symptoms, and questions of psychological or psychiatric (i.e., somatic) reasons for Employee’s complaints.  

We reviewed the Board’s SIME list and find a medical doctor with a specialty as a toxicologist or occupational medicine and another physician with a psychiatry and neurology specialty are best suited to perform this SIME because we find the medical issues are complex and varied, as noted in detail, supra.  First, we find clear issues concerning the effects, if any, various chemicals and crude oil had on Employee while a VECO employee in 1989 and the amount of exposure to these substances needed to cause illness or symptoms.  We find a toxicologist or occupational medicine specialist is best suited to address those issues.  We find the Board’s list includes several toxicologists and occupational medicine specialists.  We find Edward Holmes, M.D., a physician on our list with a specialty in toxicology and occupational medicine appears to be a suitable choice for this part of the SIME.  

Second, we further find disputes concerning whether or not Employee has brain damage or other systemic illness caused by her 1989 exposure, or whether her symptoms and complaints stem from Somatoform Disorder -- a psychiatric or psychological problem.  We find a physician with a specialty in neurology and psychiatry is best suited to address these complicated issues.  We find Walter Ling, M.D., a physician on our list, is qualified in both neurology and psychiatry.  We select Dr. Holmes and Dr. Ling to perform the SIME in this case.

If a physician we selected believes a referral to some other specialty is warranted, he may make that referral and our Workers Compensation Officer will make appropriate arrangements.

We direct the assigned Workers Compensation Officer to promptly schedule an SIME within 30 days of this decision’s date and to select dates for the parties to submit medical records and suggested questions.
  Given Employee’s varied and continued symptoms, we direct our Workers Compensation Officer to include as issues for the SIME: “Causation” of the various conditions and symptoms, “the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment,” and “functional capacity.”  Given Employer’s defenses under AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.105,
 we also direct the Workers Compensation Officer to develop questions addressing potential equitable tolling of these defenses.
  We find these issues fit within the ambit of “functional capacity.”  These three disputes will address the salient “causation” issue and, because Employee claims disability and past and future medical care, will also address her ability to work, will address her ability to deal with applicable statutes of limitation, and will speak to the need for any additional medical testing, care or treatment.  To save time and expense, the parties may agree to other SIME issues, or may agree to have the panel review issues for which there is not currently clear evidence of present dispute, but for which future disputes may arise (such as medical stability and permanent partial impairment).
  The Board shall retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes that may arise over these matters.

II. SHALL THE BOARD ORDER DESTRUCTION OR RELINQUISHMENT OF THE EME TAPE?

Employer asks us to order Employee to either destroy all copies of the tape she made of all or part of her EME with Dr. Wicher, or relinquish all copies of that tape to Dr. Wicher.  Employee argues the tape belongs to her and, among other things, may be valuable evidence in this case.

AS 23.30.110(a) states:

Subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.105, a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability following an injury, or at any time after death, and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim (emphasis added).

Employer relies upon Struzynski v. Manpower International, Inc.
 as support for its argument we should order Employee to either destroy any and all copies of the Wicher tape recording, or relinquish it to Dr. Wicher.  We do not find Struzynski helpful on this issue.  In Struzynski, the employee failed three times to appear for an EME even after the employer had accommodated his wishes to not fly by providing funds for ground transportation.  The Board held: “Employers have an explicit statutory right to medical examinations of injured workers by physicians of their choosing. . . .  We conclude the employee is required, under AS 23.30.095(a) to provide reasonable cooperation with this examination.”  Because the employee failed to appear thrice, the Board concluded he refused to attend, and ordered his cooperation by his attendance, subject to suspension and forfeiture of his benefits for continued refusal.
  We find Struzynski distinguishable from the instant case because it was a discovery dispute, i.e., the employee refused to allow the employer its statutory right to medical discovery by refusing to attend a reasonable EME request.  

Here, by contrast, Employee attended the EME with Dr. Wicher and the EME went forward notwithstanding Employee’s alleged refusal to cease recording it.  This is not a case in which the employee’s actions prevented the EME.
  Indeed, the EME with Dr. Wicher was completed and there is no evidence the recording, to whatever extent it occurred, had any effect on Dr. Wicher’s ability to perform her evaluation or prepare her report.  Rather, Dr. Wicher through Employer seeks to have the tape destroyed or relinquished to her based upon her contention the tests she believes Employee “recorded” are copyrighted and dissemination of the test information may invalidate the tests. 

We find the authority granted us pursuant to AS 23.30.110(a) is not without limit.  The statute requires an issue for us to hear and determine must be “in respect to the claim” for benefits under the Act.  We find Employer has not directed us to any statute, regulation, or case law supporting its argument we have authority to order Employee to divest herself of her private property by destroying it, or relinquishing it to a third person, not a party to her claim.  We find the tape issue has no practical effect on Employee’s claim or Employer’s defenses, it is not part of a discovery dispute (i.e., Employer is not seeking production of a copy of the tape for its own use), and it is not an issue “in respect to the claim.”  We find Employer’s request requires us to interpret too broadly our authority under §110(a) specifically, and under the Act in general.  We decline to do so.  We conclude we do not have authority under the Act to provide the relief Dr. Wicher seeks, through Employer.  Consequently, we deny and dismiss Employer’s request that we order Employee to destroy or relinquish the Wicher EME tape.

III. SHALL THE BOARD CHANGE THE VENUE FROM ANCHORAGE TO JUNEAU?

8 AAC 45.072 provides:

A hearing will be held only in a city in which a division office is located.  Except as provided in this section, a hearing will be held in the city nearest the place where the injury occurred and in which a division office is located.  The hearing location may be changed to a different city in which a division office is located if

(1) the parties stipulate to the change;

(2) after receiving a party's request in accordance with 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(D) and based on the documents filed with the board and the parties' written arguments, the board orders the hearing location changed for the convenience of the parties and the witnesses; the board's panel in the city nearest the place where the injury occurred will decide the request filed under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(D) to change the hearing's location; or

(3) the board or designee, in its discretion and without a party's request, changes the hearing's location for the board's convenience or to assure a speedy remedy (emphasis added).

Employee argues she previously requested a change of venue from Anchorage to Juneau for her and her witnesses’ convenience.  However, the Workers’ Compensation Officer could find no evidence Employee ever filed a formal petition requesting the venue change.  Employee reiterated her venue change request in her briefing and at hearing.  She requested the same Board panel if venue was changed to Juneau.  In response, Employer stipulated to the venue change.

The Board finds Anchorage is the city nearest to where Employee’s injury is claimed to have occurred, in Prince William Sound, and therefore the Anchorage panel shall decide the venue change question.  The Board finds the parties stipulated to a venue change from Anchorage to Juneau.  The Board finds venue in Juneau would better serve administrative economy and the convenience of the parties and their witnesses.  We further find a venue change to Juneau will result in a speedier remedy, because many of Employee’s concerns and objections will be rectified with a Juneau venue.  We find Employee resides in Juneau and Employer’s counsel resides in Seattle, and many of Employee’s physicians are in Juneau or points south.  We therefore approve the parties’ stipulation, and order venue in this case is changed from Anchorage to Juneau.  Because we find the Anchorage panel has only heard preliminary issues, an appropriately comprised Juneau panel will be assigned to hear remaining issues in this case, consistent with typical Board procedure.

ORDER

1) Employee’s request for an SIME is granted.

2) The Juneau Workers Compensation Officer shall hold a prehearing conference and shall schedule the SIME with Edward Holmes, M.D., and with Walter Ling, M.D., subject to their willingness and availability.  The SIME appointments shall be scheduled, but the examinations not necessarily held, with 30 days of this Decision and Order.

3) If either of these physicians is unwilling or unavailable to perform the SIME, the Workers’ Compensation Officer shall select other qualified physicians with the same specialties from the Board’s SIME list.

4) Employer’s request for a Board order requiring Employee to destroy or relinquish a tape recording she made of all or part of her EME with Dr. Wicher is denied and dismissed.

5) The parties’ stipulation to change venue from Anchorage to Juneau is approved and the venue change is so ordered.

6) The Board, acting through the Juneau panel, shall otherwise reserve jurisdiction over the continuing disputes in this matter.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on September 9, 2009.
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RECONSIDERATION
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MODIFICATION
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CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of BETTY  CAREY employee / applicant; v. VECO, INC. employer; EAGLE PACIFIC INS. CO, insurer(s) / defendants; Case No. 198933971; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on September 9, 2009.





Jean Sullivan, Clerk
�











� Non-attorney Barbara Williams sat at the hearing table next to Employee and provided occasional assistance in the form of written notes and whispered comments.  Ms. Williams has not entered an appearance as a non-attorney representative in this case.  Employer objected to Ms. Williams’ participation but cited no legal basis for her objection.  The chair overruled the objection, but later clarified and ruled Ms. Williams could not assist Employee during Employee’s testimony.


� Ms. Carey alleges toxic exposures, which occurred over the entire course of her employment with VECO on the oil spill cleanup.  July 18, 1989 is the administrative date of injury assigned to this case by the Board’s staff, and while other dates have been used by the parties on various pleadings, we refer to the administrative date the Board staff assigned.


� Ms. Carey filed two claims -- the first is dated September 28, 2006, and the second October 3, 2006.  It appears the claims are very similar and Ms. Carey tried to fit as much information as possible in block 15 on her first claim, ran out of room, and subsequently filed another claim including a “continuation” page on which she more fully and clearly articulated the nature of her alleged illness.  We here cite the second claim.


�  Worker’s Compensation Claim dated October 3, 2006.


�  Id. at 1 and at attachment.


� See Employer’s Controversion dated February 9, 2007.


� See Employee’s May 21, 2009 letter to the worker’s compensation division.


� See Prehearing Conference Summaries dated December 4, 2006, February 1, 2007 (an essentially “blank” summary form for this date is present in our computer system and a copy is in Employee’s file; Employee on February 1, 2007 cancelled it, so no summary was ever fully completed), October 28, 2008, and May 29, 2009.


� See Prehearing Conference Summary dated May 29, 2009.


� Id.


� Id.


� The medical summary and attached records are approximately twelve inches in height.


� See Dr. Dahlgren’s January 26, 2009 letter.


� See Dr. Dahlgren’s January 14, 2008 report.


� Polyaromatic hydrocarbons.


� Id. at 24.


� Id.


� Id. at 25.


� See Dr. Bursell’s October 4, 2006 report.


� See Dr. Nelson’s February 15, 2001 report.


� See Dr. Teitelbaum’s February 5, 2001 letter.


� See Dr. Nelson’s December 20, 2000 report.


� See Dr. Burton and Dr. Bardana’s report dated February 21, 2008.


� Id. at 61-63.


� Id. at 63-66.


� See Dr. Wicher’s February 5 and February 7, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Wicher’s report at 8-9.


� See Employee’s post-hearing brief at 4-8.


� See Employer’s post-hearing brief at 2-3.


� AWCAC Decision No. 045 (June 6, 2007).


� AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008).


� See Employer’s post-hearing brief at 3-4.


� See Employee’s post-hearing brief at 8-10.


� AWCB Decision 05-0278 (October 27, 2005).


� See Employer’s post-hearing brief at 4-6.


� See Employee’s post-hearing brief at 1-4.


� Employer also queried whether or not the current Board panel would remain the panel for the case or would a new panel and hearing officer be assigned, should venue change.  The chair responded by stating “typically” when venue is changed from one city to another, it gets changed “completely” and the case is reassigned to the hearing officer and Board members assigned to that Board office.  In this instance, a Juneau hearing officer would become the assigned hearing officer.  The chair noted there have been exceptions in which the parties “stipulated” to having the same panel members, who attended hearings by phone, which was “awkward.”  In this case, since the only issues addressed to this point were preliminary, the Board sees little to gain by retaining the same panel.  Therefore, an appropriate Juneau hearing officer and Board members would be assigned to this case if venue is changed to Juneau.


� Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage (ATU), AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).  See also Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing and Heating, AWCB Decision No. 91-0128 (May 2, 1991).


� AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).


� AWCB Decision No. 00-0055 (March 24, 2000).


� AWCB Decision No. 97-0130 (June 12, 1997).


� AWCB Decision No. 00-0158 (July 21, 2000).


� AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008).


� AWCAC Decision No. 050 (January 25, 2007), at 8.


� Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp., AWCAC Decision No. 073 (February 27, 2008) at 4.  


� Id.


� See Employer’s February 9, 2007 Controversion Notice.


� We encourage the parties to review the records submitted to the Board to date and stipulate if possible as to their authenticity.


� Geister at 7.


� Id. at 9.


� 8 AAC 45.092(f).  


� The examination need not be held within 30 days but the SIME should be scheduled within 30 days.�AS 23.30.005(h).  


� And other possible defenses based upon statutes of limitations.


� The parties may also submit questions addressing these issues.


� We note in many cases subsequent disputes arise over what were previously non-SIME issues after the Board’s SIME report is received.  In many cases it makes economic sense for the parties to agree to have the Board’s SIME panel address potential issues initially, rather than going through the SIME again.


� AWCB Decision No. 05-0278 (October 27, 2005).


� Id. at 4-5.


� See for example Caples v. Valdez Creek Mininq Co., AWCB Decision No. 89�0280 (October 20, 1989); Eggleston v. BP Alaska Exploration, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 94-022 (August 31, 1994).


� See Employers post-hearing brief at 6.
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